
CABINET
4.00 pm WEDNESDAY, 24TH OCTOBER, 2018

COUNCIL CHAMBER
This Agenda has been prepared by the 

Democratic Services Department. Any member of the public requiring information should 
contact the department on (01685 725284) or email democratic@merthyr.gov.uk.

Any reference documents referred to but not published as part of this agenda can be found 
on the Council’s website or intranet under Background Papers.

AGENDA

1. Apologies for absence 

2. Declarations of Interest 
Members are reminded of their personal 
responsibility to declare any personal and 
prejudicial interest in respect of matters contained 
in this agenda in accordance with the provisions of 
the Local Government and Finance Act 1992 
relating to Council Tax, the Local Government Act 
2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Members 
Code of Conduct

Note:

(a) Members are reminded that they must 
identify the item number and subject matter 
that their interest relates to and signify the 
nature of the personal interest and

(b) Where Members withdraw from a Meeting 
as a consequence of the disclosure of a 
prejudicial interest they must notify the 
Chair when they leave

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


OPEN SESSION

Strategic

3. Delegated Authority – Integrated Impact 
Assessment 
To consider report of the Deputy Chief Executive 5 - 8

Portfolio

4. Air Quality Management Area Action Plan (AQAP) 
– Proposed Reversal of Traffic Flow in 
Pontmorlais High Street 
To consider report of the Chief Officer 
Neighbourhood Services

9 - 14

Information Reports

5. Cardiff Capital Region Regeneration Plan 2018-
2021 
To receive report of the Chief Officer Community 
Regeneration

15 - 20

6. School Balances 2017-2019 
To receive report of the Chief Officer Education 21 - 28

7. School Meals - New Menu November 2018 
To receive report of the Chief Officer Education 29 - 34

CLOSED SESSION

Exempt

In order for the following to be considered in private, it is suggested that the 
public be excluded from the meeting on the grounds that it involves the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraph/s (14) under Part 4 
of Schedule 12A Section 100 (A) (4) of the Local Government Act 1972.



8. Supply of Desktop ICT 
To consider report of the Deputy Chief Executive 35 - 38

RE-OPENED SESSION

9. Any Other Business Deemed Urgent by the Chair 

COMPOSITION: Councillors     K O'Neill (Chair)
                       L Mytton (Vice-Chair) 

Councillors     A Barry, K Gibbs, D Hughes and 
G Thomas

together with appropriate officers

If you would prefer a copy of this agenda in another language please contact 
democratic@merthyr.gov.uk or telephone 01685 725284

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

CABINET REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Delegated Authority – Integrated Impact 
Assessment

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 In line with the requirements of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 
2015 (the Act) the Council has developed an Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA). 
The IIA aims to support the Council in demonstrating how it is planning, delivering 
and monitoring services in line with the sustainable development principles and how 
it is seeking to improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being 
of Merthyr Tydfil, now and for future generations by:

- Thinking about the long term impact of our work on people in Merthyr Tydfil; 
- Taking an integrated approach to services, looking at the impact our work could 
   have on other services and organisations;
- Involving people in the decisions that affect them;
- Working with others to find collaborative solutions; and 
- Understanding the root causes of issues and preventing them from occurring.

1.2 The IIA, which was approved by Cabinet on 26th September 2018, has replaced the 
Council’s Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) process.

1.3 The IIA has been rolled out for Council and Cabinet Reports from 24th October 2018 
onwards.

1.4 As part of the Council’s quality assurance arrangements to ensure that the IIA 
remains proportionate and reasonable in supporting the Council’s governance 

Date Written 4th October 2018
Report Author Kerry O’Donovan
Service Area Strategic Support Services 
Committee Division Strategic
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 24th October 2018

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



arrangements this report is recommending that delegated authority be granted to the 
Deputy Chief Executive in consultation with the Portfolio Member for Governance, 
Performance, Business Change & Corporate Services to amend the Integrated 
Impact Assessment Template and Guidance where necessary.

1.5 This will ensure that the IIA remains fit for purpose in supporting the Council’s 
decision making processes by making any amendments where necessary, for 
example by undertaking a six month review of the IIA and including the requirements 
for data protection impact assessments.  

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that

2.1 Delegated authority be granted to the Deputy Chief Executive in consultation with the 
Portfolio Member for Governance, Performance, Business Change & Corporate 
Services to amend the Integrated Impact Assessment Template and Guidance 
where necessary.

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

Integrated Impact Assessment

3.1 In line with the requirements of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 
2015 (the Act) the Council has developed an Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA). 
The IIA aims to support the Council in demonstrating how it is planning, delivering 
and monitoring services in line with the sustainable development principles and how 
it is seeking to improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being 
of Merthyr Tydfil, now and for future generations by:

 Thinking about the long term impact of our work on people in Merthyr Tydfil; 
 Taking an integrated approach to services, looking at the impact our work could 

have on other services and organisations;
 Involving people in the decisions that affect them;
 Working with others to find collaborative solutions; and 
 Understanding the root causes of issues and preventing them from occurring.

3.2 The IIA incorporates the Council’s Well-being Objectives, the Sustainable 
Development principles, Equalities, Welsh language and Biodiversity, to support 
effective decision making and ensuring compliance with the following legislation:

 Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015.
 Equality Act 2010 (Statutory Duties) (Wales) Regulations 2011.
 Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011.
 Section 6 of Part 1 of the Environment (Wales) Act 2016.

3.3 The IIA, which was approved by Cabinet on 26th September 2018, has replaced the 
Council’s Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) process.

Page 6



3.4 The IIA has been rolled out for Council and Cabinet Reports from 24th October 2018 
onwards. 

3.5 The IIA will be regularly reviewed to ensure that it remains fit for purpose in 
supporting the Council’s decision making processes.

4.0 DELEGATED AUTHORITY

4.1 As part of the Council’s quality assurance arrangements to ensure that the IIA 
remains proportionate and reasonable in supporting the Council’s governance 
arrangements this report is recommending that delegated authority be granted to the 
Deputy Chief Executive in consultation with the Portfolio Member for Governance, 
Performance, Business Change & Corporate Services to amend the Integrated 
Impact Assessment Template and Guidance where necessary.

4.2 This will ensure that the IIA remains fit for purpose in supporting the Council’s 
decision making processes by making any amendments where necessary, for 
example by undertaking a six month review of the IIA and including the requirements 
for data protection impact assessments.  

5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)

5.1 There are no specific financial implications identified in this report. Any financial 
implications arising from the report will be reported to Cabinet/Council as 
appropriate, including potential options for funding.

6.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT

Positive 
Impacts

Negative 
Impacts

Not 
Applicable 

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 
Objectives 4 of 4 0 of 4 0 of 4

2. Sustainable Development 
Principles - How have you 
considered the five ways of 
working:

 Long term
 Prevention
 Integration
 Collaboration
 Involvement

5 of 5 0 of 5 0 of 5

3. Protected Characteristics 
(including Welsh Language) 10 of 10 0 of 10 0 of 10

4. Biodiversity 1 of 1 0 of 1 0 of 1

Page 7



Summary:

Granting delegated authority to the Deputy Chief Executive in consultation with the 
Portfolio Member for Governance, Performance, Business Change & Corporate Services 
to make any necessary amendments to the IIA Template and Guidance will ensure that 
the IIA remains fit for purpose in supporting the Council’s decision making processes to 
positively impact on the Council’s Well-being Objectives, sustainable development 
principles, protected characteristics (including Welsh language) and biodiversity. 

No negative impacts have been identified.

ELLIS COOPER
DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE

COUNCILLOR ANDREW BARRY
CABINET MEMBER FOR GOVERNANCE,
PERFORMANCE, BUSINESS CHANGE & 

CORPORATE SERVICES

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 8



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

CABINET REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Air Quality Management Area Action Plan (AQAP) 
– Proposed Reversal of Traffic Flow in Pontmorlais 
High Street

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 Following Council approval of the AQAP to implement option 1a (reversal of traffic 
flow in Pontmorlais High Street) to provide an alternative northbound route for 
vehicles using the roundabout outside Tesco,   submission of the action plan to 
Welsh Government and subsequent acceptance by Welsh Government, Councillors 
authorise the intention to publish a Public Notice informing of the County Borough 
Council’s intention to make a permanent Traffic Regulation Order under the Road 
Traffic Regulation Act 1984 and in the event of no objections, the Order is made.

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that

2.1 a) Public Notice be given of the County Borough Council’s intention to make 
permanent Traffic Regulation Order under the Road Traffic Regulation Act  
1984, the effect of which is detailed in the schedule at Appendix A;

b) That in the event of no objections being received, the said permanent Order
be made;

c) If objections are received a report is presented to the appropriate Committee
for consideration as soon as practicable.

Date Written 8th October 2018
Report Author Martin Stark 
Service Area Engineering 
Committee Division Portfolio 
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 24th October 2018

Page 9

Agenda Item 4



3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 Council approved the AQAP involving implementation of option 1a on 27th June 
2018, item number 128 refers. Welsh Government subsequently accepted the Action 
Plan by confirmation letter dated 27th July 2018.

4.0 IMPLEMENTATION OF OPTION 1a

4.1 To reverse the traffic flow on High Street requires Cabinet approval seeking 
authorisation to publish a new Traffic Regulation Order that includes a statutory 3 
week objection period giving the opportunity for objections to be received from the 
public. If objections are received, these would be considered by an Appeals 
Committee. If no objections are received the Order can be made. 

4.2 Redstart (formerly Capita) has been commissioned to investigate the existing road 
layout in Pontmorlais High Street and design proposals appropriate for traffic flows 
between the Tramroad Side North/Church Street junction through to the Pontmorlais 
High Street/Pontmorlais West junction and improvements to the traffic signals at the 
Brecon Road junction. 

4.3 A drawing showing reversal of this one-way section of road is available via the 
Background Paper link for information purposes.

4.4 Investigation into the one-way reversal requires revocation of two existing Traffic 
Regulation Orders, detailed in the schedule at Appendix A and introduction of a new 
One-Way Traffic Regulation Order, in the opposite direction.

4.5 As part of Statutory Traffic Regulation Order procedure, consultation has been 
carried out with the emergency services and other representative users groups. No 
objections were received. The next stage of the Traffic Order process would be to 
give Public Notice of the Council’s intention to make the permanent Order including 
an objection period giving the opportunity for objections to be received from the 
general public.  If no objections are received, the Order can be made. If objections 
are received a report would be presented to the appropriate Committee for 
consideration as soon as practicable.

   
5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)

 5.1 There are administrative costs relating to the publishing of notices which is to be met 
from the Capital Programme Highways Congestion Improvement Schemes budget. 
Costs are estimated at £2,000.

Page 10



6.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT

Positive 
Impacts

Negative 
Impacts

Not 
Applicable 

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 
Objectives 4 of 4 0 of 4 0 of 4

2. Sustainable Development 
Principles - How have you 
considered the five ways of 
working:

 Long term
 Prevention
 Integration
 Collaboration
 Involvement

5 of 5 0 of 5 0 of 5

3. Protected Characteristics 
(including Welsh Language) 3 of 10 0 of 10 7 of 10

4. Biodiversity 0 of 1 0 of 1 1 of 1

Summary:

The main positive impacts against:

 The Well-being objectives are that the proposal to improve air quality along 
Twynyrodyn Road will provide better health and Well-being to children and young people. 
Air quality improvements along Twynyrodyn Road will assist in developing the 
environment and safer communities, supporting people and businesses. Reducing 
pollution will help protect, enhance and promote the environment in the town centre and 
Twynyrodyn area. Improvements to air quality along Twynyrodyn Road will help people 
enjoy good physical health, promote healthy behaviours and increased levels of physical 
activity. The improvements will support people living independently where they feel safe 
and enjoy good physical and mental health.

 The Sustainable Development Principles are that the proposal to improve air quality 
along Twynyrodyn Road will also provide long term benefits and deliver the Council’s 
Well-Being objectives. The Environmental Health Department monitors air quality in the 
County Borough and identified an air quality issue on Twynyrodyn Road. The proposal 
will reduce the NO2 levels on Twynyrodyn Road. A series of consultation meetings has 
taken place to gather the views of people on the air quality issue and proposals. The 
Environmental Health and Engineering Departments have collaborated and involved 
other Council Departments and organisations on the proposals.  The Corporate 
Communication Department has managed public engagement. Collaboration has also 
taken place with consultants on delivering the proposals. The Local Authority formally 
consulted in the Twynyrodyn and Pontmorlais area on a range of options for a period of 
12 weeks and involved people and communities on the proposals to improve air quality.

 The Protected Characteristics and Welsh Language are that the proposal has been 
considered by the Environmental Health Department to provide a positive impact and 

Page 11



improve air quality in the Air Quality Management Area by providing an alternative 
northbound route for vehicles using the roundabout outside Tesco reducing traffic flow 
along Twynyrodyn Road. The improvement will provide better health and Well-being to 
children and young people. The proposal will provide a positive impact and improve air 
quality in the Air Quality Management Area reducing traffic flow along Twynyrodyn Road. 
These improvements to air quality along Twynyrodyn Road will help towards improved 
well-being. The proposals will incorporate the Welsh language in signage and Public 
Notices.

No negative impacts have been identified against the Well-being Objectives, the Sustainable 
Development Principles, Protected Characteristics and Welsh Language and Biodiversity.

CHERYLLEE EVANS CHIEF OFFICER 
NEIGHBOURHOOD SERVICES, 
PLANNING & COUNTRYSIDE

COUNCILLOR KEVIN GIBBS 
CABINET MEMBER FOR 

NEIGHBOURHOOD SERVICES, 
PLANNING AND COUNTRSIDE

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

File ref. H10.0 Ongoing Traffic Management Section, 
Engineering Department, Unit 5 
Pentrebach

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 12



Appendix A

SCHEDULE 1 
ONE-WAY TRAFFIC

Column 1 Column 2
Road In the direction

That part of Church Street, Merthyr Town East to west
Centre, from its junction with the
western side of Tramroad Side North 
to its junction with the eastern side
of High Street.

That part of High Street and Pontmorlais
High Street, Merthyr Town Centre, South to north
from its junction with the southern side
of Church Street to its junction with the
southern side of Pontmorlais West. 

SCHEDULE 2 
REVOCATION OF EXISTING TRAFFIC ORDERS

1. Revoke the “Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council (High Street, Pontmorlais) (One 
Way Traffic) Order 2000”.

2. Revoke the “Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council High Street (Part) Church Street 
(Part), Merthyr Tydfil (One-Way Traffic) Order 2013”.

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

CABINET - INFORMATION REPORT

To:   Mayor, Ladies and Gentlemen

Cardiff Capital Region Regeneration Plan 2018 – 
2021  

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 The Targeted Regeneration Investment (TRI) programme complements the 
ambitions of other interventions delivered across Welsh Government and wider 
public sector with the aim of supporting economic regeneration whilst supporting 
wider sustainable development.   £44m has been approved for the South East Wales 
region. 

1.2 Under the new programme priorities were required for identification by local 
authorities working in regional partnerships.  

1.3 The TRI Plan that has been developed for South East Wales is the Cardiff Capital 
Region Regeneration Plan 2018 – 2021.  This Plan has been developed as a 
regional framework for the Capital Region and includes the ten South East Wales 
authorities.  

1.4 The purpose of the Plan is to set out the objectives of the Cardiff Capital Region and 
to outline the target areas and scope of activities possible under the Welsh 
Government TRI Programme from April 2018 for three years.  

1.5 The approach taken by the ten local authorities is to develop a rolling programme of 
project development and implementation for TRI, which compliments the wider City 
Deal (and other key strategies such as the Valleys Task Force), and ensures that the 
co-ordinated focus brings significant benefits to the region.

Date Written 25th September 2018 
Report Author Zoe Thomas / Chris Long 
Service Area Community Regeneration 
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 
Committee Date 24th October 2018 

Page 15

Agenda Item 5



1.6 The Plan was submitted to Welsh Government in July 2018 along with a separate 
document which outlined the Cardiff Capital Region TRI prioritised projects with 
costs and outcomes.   

1.7  On the 19th September 2018, Welsh Government wrote directly to Merthyr Tydfil 
CBC to confirm that the Minister for Housing and Regeneration and the Cabinet 
Secretary for Local Government and Public Services have approved the Regional 
Strategic Plan for Regeneration and the ambition set out within.

1.8 The spatial area identified for Merthyr Tydfil is the Merthyr Tydfil Town Centre.

1.9 Within the Capital City Region TRI Prioritised Projects the Merthyr Tydfil Bus Station 
has been regionally endorsed by the TRI Programme Board for implementation.  It 
has been identified by the region that the project will support the creation of a new 
Bus Station as part of the integrated transport network for the region.  

1.10 As well as local authority area strategic projects, it has been identified that there is a 
need for thematic projects delivered on a regional basis.  The administration of the 
thematic grants will be led by Rhondda Cynon Taff CBC.

2.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

2.1 The Targeted Regeneration Investment (TRI) programme complements the 
ambitions of other interventions delivered across Welsh Government and wider 
public sector with the aim of supporting economic regeneration whilst supporting 
wider sustainable development.  This new targeted capital regeneration programme 
will be delivered over a three year period but aims to create a robust platform for 
future regeneration opportunities thereafter. 

2.2 Under the new programme priorities were required for identification by local 
authorities working in regional partnerships.  Through these partnerships Welsh 
Government encouraged a rolling programme of regeneration projects which are 
designed to add value to, and compliment, existing investments both revenue and 
capital. 

2.3 There is no revenue budget tied specifically to the capital programme, but Welsh 
Government want authorities to demonstrate the use of existing grant mechanisms 
and their own resources to tackle poverty in their locality. 

2.4 The TRI Plan that has been developed for South East Wales is the Cardiff Capital 
Region Regeneration Plan 2018 – 2021.  This Plan has been developed as a 
regional framework for the Capital Region and includes the ten South East Wales 
authorities.  

2.5 The purpose of the Plan is to set out the objectives of the Cardiff Capital Region and 
to outline the target areas and scope of activities possible under the Welsh 
Government TRI Programme from April 2018 for three years.  In line with the Cardiff 
Capital Region Programme, the framework created is looking to support projects that 
encourage community resilience and economic regeneration across the region 

Page 16



(taking into consideration areas such as housing, better employment opportunities, 
job creation and improved business environments to support business growth).  

2.6 This Plan for the South East builds upon the substantial experience of partners and 
their wide ranging regeneration activities.  The Regional Plan for Regeneration is not 
starting from scratch; rather it builds on the previous Welsh Government Vibrant and 
Viable Places (VVP) funding programme 2014 – 17.  In doing so, it recognised that 
working in partnership is essential to the successful delivery of the objectives set out 
in the plan.  

2.7  The approach taken by the ten local authorities is to develop a rolling programme of 
project development and implementation for TRI, which compliments the wider City 
Deal (and other key strategies such as the Valleys Task Force), and ensures that the 
co-ordinated focus brings significant benefits to the region. 

2.8 The plan has been developed to cover the initial three year period of TRI with the 
intention of reviewing the plan towards the end of the period, allowing it to be 
developed on a rolling basis having consideration of the delivery of the Plan 
objectives and any new priorities identified. 

2.9 The Plan was submitted to Welsh Government in July 2018 along with a separate 
document which outlined the Cardiff Capital Region TRI prioritised projects with 
costs and outcomes.  Prior to submission the Plan received endorsement from the 
Cardiff City Region Programme Board.

3.0 SOUTH EAST WALES REGIONAL TARGETED INVESTMENT PLAN 
2018 – 2021 

3.1 On the 19th September 2018, Welsh Government wrote directly to Merthyr Tydfil 
CBC to confirm that the Minister for Housing and Regeneration and the Cabinet 
Secretary for Local Government and Public Services have approved the Regional 
Strategic Plan for Regeneration and the ambition set out within. 

3.2 Welsh Government identified that the Regional Plan sets out both aims and 
objectives for the region and the key target areas designated to receive TRI support 
over the three year funding period.   It stated that, unlike previous Welsh 
Government Regeneration investment the TRI Programme is considered to be fluid 
and as such the final mix of projects is liable to change, subject to full endorsement 
of the region.  

3.3 As per the VVP Programme, the annual budget allocations for TRI will not change.  
Due to this fact, it will become the responsibility of the region to fully allocate and 
ensure delivery of the TRI budget on an annual basis.   In order to achieve this, 
Welsh Government request that project expenditure is adequately and realistically 
profiled.  This will be the responsibility of the Cardiff Capital Region TRI Board.  
Spend will be monitored by the Welsh Government Regeneration Managers on an 
annual basis. 

3.4 Within the Plan it outlines that all projects endorsed will be subject to regular 
monitoring by the Cardiff Capital Region TRI Board who will ensure that:

Page 17



- Priorities within the Regional Regeneration Plan are up-to-date and take into 
account local and regional developments 

- Applications for regional funding opportunities are prioritised in line with the 
priorities set within the Plan, and remedial steps are agreed in the applications 
are not likely to meet funders expectations in order to safeguard the funding 
for the region 

- Projects approved within any regional funding programmes are delivered in 
line with agreed financial and output profiles and where issues occur, ensure 
that steps are taken to support the project or, where appropriate, safeguard 
the funds, including the reallocation of funds where projects are under-
spending 

- Opportunities to maximise efficiencies through joint working where identified

4.0 MERTHYR TYDFIL REGENERATION AREA 

4.1 It is outlined within the Plan that the success of any economic regeneration 
programme is dependent on strong collaboration to address the economic 
challenges of an area.  The success of the Cardiff Capital Region, its five year plan, 
and the Regeneration Plan requires all towns and cities within the region to work 
effectively together to ensure maximum effort and impact is returned from any 
intervention.  In doing so, funding will be targeted in key locations identified across 
the region which have been chosen due to their regional importance and their 
potential to maximise any intervention to support growth and reverse decline.  The 
spatial area identified for Merthyr Tydfil is the Merthyr Tydfil Town Centre. 

4.2 The proposed projects for Merthyr Tydfil identified within the Regeneration Plan are:

- Creation of a Development Zone to take forward the next phase of 
regeneration, support job creation, attract inward investors and create the 
right environment for businesses to flourish.  In the north of the zone, a new 
retail development will be a key economic drive, whilst both east and west of 
the zone already has a heavy tourism concentration. 

- A community hub network in the north of the County, as an extension of the 
Council’s Poverty Strategy.  The principle of community empowerment is 
fundamental to our approach, with success dependent on the collective efforts 
of the public sector, third sector organisations, volunteers or businesses.  As 
the lead we will work closely with partners to build on this plan, joining up 
actions and innovating and a local and regional level.  

- Tackling long-term unemployment is an on-going priority through a range of 
programmes to enhance the diversity and level of employment opportunities.  
Investment in skills and training is a major factor in creating a highly 
employable, higher skilled local population that can be retained locally, and 
which can generate economic growth, improved productivity and a 
sustainable local economy. 

- Targeted business support and business incubation initiatives; to enhance 
and support existing business and business infrastructure; encourage 
development of new business (inward investment); development of key 
attractions and strategic projects that enable linkages and connections 

Page 18



between them and commercial, retail and service centres is very important for 
the area.  

4.3 Within the Capital City Region TRI Prioritised Projects the Merthyr Tydfil Bus Station 
has been regionally endorsed by the TRI Programme Board for implementation.  It 
has been identified by the region that the project will support the creation of a new 
Bus Station as part of the integrated transport network for the region.  The Project 
was supported for delivery with planning permission having been secured and all 
tender documentation has been prepared, resulting in MTCBC being ready to 
proceed with tender once the funding package is fully secured.  This links effectively 
to the priorities proposed to the Valleys Task Force. 

4.4 As well as local authority area strategic projects, it has been identified that there is a 
need for thematic projects delivered on a regional basis which:

- Offers potential applicants the opportunity to apply for a grant for a new shop / 
commercial property frontage and associated external / internal works, the 
intention being to enhance building frontages and bring vacant commercial 
floor-space back into beneficial business use

- Offers potential applicants the opportunity to apply for a grant to undertake 
external and internal works to improve access to vacant or under-utilised 
space above commercial / shop frontages, with the intention of assisting 
owners to bring that space into use for residential purposes. 

4.5 The administration of the thematic grants will be led by Rhondda Cynon Taff CBC.  A 
number of processes will be established to ensure a consistent and accountable 
approach to delivery across the region. 

- A collaboration agreement will be drawn up and established with each of the 
Cardiff Capital Region local authorities.  This will set out roles and 
responsibilities for the delivery of the schemes, taking into consideration 
accountability, local administrative processes, indicative grant allocations, 
process for awarding grant, achievement of outcomes and reporting and 
monitoring procedures. 

- Projects will be prioritised and approved at a local level, by local authorities, 
and forwarded to the regional lead.

5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)

5.1 £650,000 has been secured through the Council’s Capital Programme between 
18/19 and 21/22 to utilise as match funding against any funding applications 
developed for the Bus Station Project.  

5.2 £150,000 has been secured through the Capital Programme this financial year as 
match funding against the TRI Programme for the development and delivery of 
projects as required. 

Page 19



6.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT

Positive 
Impacts

Negative 
Impacts

Not 
Applicable 

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 
Objectives  3 of 4 0 of 4 1 of 4

2. Sustainable Development 
Principles - How have you 
considered the five ways of 
working:

 Long term
 Prevention
 Integration
 Collaboration
 Involvement

5 of 5 0 of 5 0 of 5

3. Protected Characteristics 
(including Welsh Language) 2 of 10 0 of 10 8 of 10

4. Biodiversity 0 of 1 0 of 1 1 of 1

Summary:

The main positive impacts are that the TRI programme will meet the Merthyr Tydfil Well-
being Objectives and Sustainable Development Principles through targeting economic 
growth.  The Programme will have a positive effect on the economy, socially and on the 
environment.   

The main negative impacts are that the Programme does not target all of the protected 
characteristics or biodiversity.  To have a positive impact on these would be difficult as 
this is a Capital Regeneration Programme.  

ALYN OWEN 
CHIEF OFFICER COMMUNITY 
REGENERATION

COUNCILLOR GERAINT THOMAS
CABINET MEMBER FOR 

REGENERATION AND PUBLIC 
PROTECTION

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 20



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

CABINET - INFORMATION REPORT

To:   Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

SCHOOL BALANCES 2017-2019

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide an update with respect to schools balances 
at the financial year-end 2017/18 and the financial risk and sustainability of school 
budgets assessing in 2018/19 following the setting of school budgets and indicative 
Medium Term Financial Plans (MTFPs) 2018/2021.

1.2 Since 2015/16 the Local Authority (LA) has implemented resource monitoring, 
challenge and intervention policies that have enabled and supported the recovery of 
very low aggregate schools balances and the recovery of individual schools’ budgets 
from a deficit position.

1.3 Afon Taf High School successfully delivered a surplus balance for the first time since 
2012/13 and for the first time since 2007/08 no schools closed the financial year with 
a deficit budget.  However, Bedlinog Community Primary has agreed a deficit budget 
with the LA for the current financial year 2018/19.  A deficit recovery plan is in place 
and the school is expected to deliver a surplus balance by 2020/21. 

1.4 The report shows that overall the management of schools’ financial resources is 
good and improving although an increasing number of individual schools have 
excess balances above regulatory thresholds at the 2017/18 financial year end and 
are subject to LA challenge regarding use of these balances.

1.5 However, this improving position is now set within a context of balances that are 
expected to diminish over the medium term based on current funding levels. 

Date Written 6th October 2018
Report Author Anthony Lewis
Service Area Learning
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 24th October 2018

Page 21

Agenda Item 6



1.6 All schools have been categorised for financial risk in 2018/19.  The number of 
schools categorised as Amber or Red financial risk has increased from six to eight 
schools.  Overall seven schools are facing higher financial risk, seven are facing 
lower financial risk, and the other thirteen schools have the same risk status year on 
year.  

1.7 Further budget reductions from 2019/20 onwards will increase the risk to schools 
being able to set sustainable budgets over the medium term.

1.8 Next steps have been identified in order to continue to monitor, scrutinise, support, 
and intervene in schools with regards to financial performance and sustainability.  

2.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

2.1 In response to the low level of school balances at 31st March 2014 and 31st March 
2015, circa £358k and £214k respectively, and the high number of schools ending 
those financial years in deficit (ten and then nine), the Schools’ Financial Monitoring, 
Scrutiny and Intervention Policy was implemented to risk assess the financial 
sustainability of schools and to target appropriate LA challenge and support.

2.2 At the same time a policy to direct the use of and if necessary clawback schools’ 
balances above the regulatory thresholds of £50k for Nursery/Primary schools and 
£100k for Secondary/Special schools was also implemented.  This policy requires 
schools to spend their excess balances in year 1, enables the LA to direct spend in 
year 2 and if appropriate, to clawback the excess balances in year 3.  In accordance 
with the Schools Funding Regulations (Wales) 2010 any balances clawed back by 
the LA must be spent on pupils in year as part of the LA’s overall spend on schools.

2.3 The LA has a benchmark target for aggregate schools’ balances held at the financial 
year end to be 3% of formula funding and also recommends that individual schools 
hold balances of between 2% - 4%, and within the £50k/£100k regulatory thresholds. 

2.4 Good resource management in schools is the result of effective leadership and 
governance and Estyn describes ‘Good’ resource management in the following 
terms:
 Staffing and financial resources are managed and deployed effectively to support 

learning improvement
 The impact of resources on teaching and learning is kept under review and future 

needs are planned for
 The school’s spending decisions relate well to priorities for improvement and the 

benefit of the pupils
 The pupil deprivation grant is well spent
 The use of shared resources through efficient partnership work or federation 

provides good value for money because it contributes to improved and generally 
good outcomes for pupils in aspects which the school alone could not provide.

2.5 Since 2015/16 onwards the key measures of success that the LA has used to judge 
‘Good’ resource management in schools are:
 No schools with an unplanned financial deficit

Page 22



 All schools with a licensed deficit deliver against their recovery plan and balance 
their budget in line with their Medium Term Financial Plan

 All schools with a surplus balance in excess of regulatory thresholds will 
successfully deliver their excess balances spending plan

 No school will hold excess balances for three consecutive years requiring local 
authority clawback

3.0 SCHOOLS FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE 2017/2018

3.1 The LA’s schools’ balances held in reserve at 31st March 2018 were £1,846,606, 
which when adjusted to account for the WG Repairs and Maintenance Grant paid in 
during March 2018, reduces the balances held to £1,581,040.  

3.2 The WG R&M Grant was unexpected nationally and was given to schools in March 
2018 as a one-off contribution to schools’ budgets.  This additional income, though 
welcome, distorts the level of balances that schools would otherwise have held at the 
year end.

3.3 The adjusted balance of £1.58 Million is 4.1% of formula funding, and is £431k 
above the LA’s 3% target for aggregate schools’ balances.  This compares to 
balances held the previous year i.e. at 31st March 2017 of £956,356 or 2.6% of 
formula funding.

Appendix 1 contains the detail of the 2017/18 financial year-end balances held by 
schools.  

3.4 Thirteen schools have adjusted year-end balances higher than the regulatory 
thresholds.  Further details are provided in Table 1 below.

Table 1: Schools above School Funding (Wales) Regulations 2010 thresholds 
(Nursery/Primary £50k, Secondary/Special £100k) @ 31st March 2018. 

2017/2018 Excess Year
School Adjusted 

Balance £000s
Balance 
£000s  

Cyfarthfa High 124 24 1
Coed Y Dderwen Primary 74 24 1
Gwaunfarren Primary 62 12 1
St Illtyd’s RC Primary 69 19 1
St Aloysius RC Primary 70 20 1
Twynyrodyn Primary 67 17 1
Pen y Dre High 103 3 1
Greenfield Special 138 38 1
Afon Taf High 103 3 1
Dowlais Primary 98 48 2
Edwardsville Primary 72 22 2
Ysgol Y Graig Primary 97 47 2
St Mary’s RC Primary 64 14 3

Page 23



3.5 All schools with excess balances have provided excess balance plans to the LA 
detailing the reasons for the balances being held and the planned use of those 
balances in the current financial year 2018/19.  These plans have been approved by 
the Chief Officers for Learning and Finance.

3.6 The Chief Officers for Learning and Finance are currently considering their formal 
recommendation to Cabinet regarding St Mary’s Catholic Primary School holding 
excess balances for the third consecutive year-end.  The school’s excess balances 
which have accrued largely due to the additional income arising from the federation 
arrangements with St Illtyd’s Catholic Primary School are at their lowest level for 
three years.  The excess balance was +£28k in 2015/16, +£47k in 2016/17 and has 
now been reduced to +£14k at the 2017/18 year end.  Although the excess balance 
has significantly reduced, the £14k surplus can be clawed back subject to Cabinet 
approval.  

3.7 If these £14k excess monies are clawed back then, as per the Schools Funding 
(Wales) Regulations, 2010, they must be spent during 2018/19 for the benefit of 
pupils within the County Borough.  A recommendation will be tabled by the 
respective Chief Officers at the next Cabinet meeting. 

3.8 Afon Taf High School successfully delivered a surplus budget in line with the 
school’s approved Planned Licensed Deficit (PLD).  The school closed the year with 
£103k in reserve, their first positive balance since 2012/13.  The school is currently 
projecting to remain in surplus over the period of its MTFP, although year 3 of this 
plan (2020/21) indicates a reduced balance of £24k which shows further careful 
financial planning is required.

3.9 The 2017/18 year end is first time since 2007/08 that no school closed the financial 
year with a deficit budget.  It is also the third consecutive year that no school has 
closed with an unplanned and unlicensed deficit, evidencing continued improvement 
in financial monitoring by schools and the LA.  In 2013/14 there were nine schools in 
a financial deficit position and in 2014/15 there were six schools in this high risk 
position.

3.10 Following the closure of the 2017/18 accounts in May 2018, all schools set their 
2018/19 budgets by 31st May 2018 in line with statutory requirements. 

3.11 Schools’ 2018/19 budgets and indicative three year MTFPs 2018-2021 are included 
in Appendix 1 alongside their 2017-18 year end balances.

3.12 The aggregate level of school balances budgeted in 2018/19 is just over £1 million 
which shows an expected £800k reduction in balances year on year.  This estimated 
year-end balance for schools is 2.7% of formula funding which is £100k lower than 
the benchmark LA target of 3%. 

3.13 In 2018/19, one school, Bedlinog Primary, have set a deficit budget of -£24,168. 
Bedlinog applied to the LA for a licensed deficit and submitted a business plan and 
MTFP covering the period 2018-2021 to support the recovery of this deficit by 
2020/21.

Page 24



3.14 The school’s recovery plan, which will be implemented during academic year 
2018/19, is linked to the restructuring of its Senior Leadership Team (SLT) and was 
approved by the Chief Officers for Learning and Finance in July 2018. 

3.15 The level of aggregate schools’ balances over the MTFP period indicates that 
overall, schools balances are expected to decline beyond 2018/19 to £863k in 
2019/20 and £487k in 2020/21, by which time nine schools are at risk of being in a 
deficit budget position.

3.16 In July 2018, following confirmation of their indicative MTFPs, each school was 
categorised for financial risk and sustainability and were advised of their categories 
at the end of the Summer Term 2018.  See Table 2 below for a summary of these 
details.

Table 2: Financial Risk Categorisation 2017/18 and 2018/19 
No. of SchoolsFinancial Risk 

Category Judgement 2017/18 2018/19

RED HIGH RISK 2 1

AMBER MEDIUM TO HIGH 4 7

YELLOW LOW TO MEDIUM 17* 10

GREEN LOW 5 9

TOTAL 28* 27
*includes Gurnos Nursery which from 1/9/18 has been amalgamated with Goetre Primary 
School, reducing the total schools within Merthyr Tydfil to 27.

3.17 The number of schools at medium or high risk i.e. AMBER/RED has increased from 
six to eight which is an increase from 21% to 30%.  These risks are based on the 
indicative financial pressure schools are expecting to face based on 2018/19 funding 
levels.  Further budget reductions from 2019/20 onwards will increase the risk to 
schools being able to set sustainable budgets over the medium term.

3.18 Schools categorised as RED and AMBER have been sent either a Notice of 
Financial Concern (RED) or Statement of Recommended Financial Practice 
(AMBER), outlining financial monitoring and restrictions in line with LA policy. 

4.0 NEXT STEPS

4.1 The LA will continue to monitor schools finances during 2018/19 in accordance with 
the appropriate financial monitoring policies.  Schools categorised RED and AMBER 
will be required to attend the LA’s training on financial management in schools if not 
already done so. 

4.2 The LA will liaise with the Schools Forum and schools regarding savings 
requirements for the 2019/20 formula funding and provide schools with relevant and 
timely information to support robust financial planning for their 2019/20 budgets. 

Page 25



5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)

5.1 There are no financial implications associated with this report.

6.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT

Positive 
Impacts

Negative 
Impacts

Not 
Applicable 

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 
Objectives 0 of 4 0 of 4 4 of 4

2. Sustainable Development 
Principles - How have you 
considered the five ways of 
working:

 Long term
 Prevention
 Integration
 Collaboration
 Involvement

0 of 5 0 of 5 5 of 5

3. Protected Characteristics 
(including Welsh Language) 0 of 10 0 of 10 10 of 10

4. Biodiversity 0 of 1 0 of 1 1 of 1

Summary:
No positive or negative impacts have been identified against the Well-being Objectives, the
Sustainable Development Principles, the Protected Characteristics, Welsh Language or
Biodiversity.

SUE WALKER
CHIEF OFFICER LEARNING

COUNCILLOR LISA MYTTONG
PORTFOLIO MEMBER FOR LIFELONG 

LEARNING

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Schools Balances 2016-2018 22nd November 2017 Learning Department

Schools Financial Monitoring, 
Scrutiny & Intervention Policy (v1.01)

02nd Nov 2016 Learning Department

Direction of Schools Excess 
Balances & Clawback Policy (v1.00)

29th July 2015 Learning Department

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 26



Appendix 1

 £ 
Adjusted

£
% of FA  £  % of FA 

Assessment of 
Risk

 £  % of FA  £  % of FA 

GURNOS NURSERY 36,808 34,097£                     9.29% 15,155£                     4.4% -£                        0.0% -£                        0.0%
TOTALS 36,808 34,097£                     9.29% 15,155£                     4.4% -£                        0.0% -£                        0.0%

ABERCANAID COMMUNITY 16,825 10,204£                     1.35% 10,047£                     1.4% 1,993£                    0.3% 8,730-£                    -1.2%
BEDLINOG COMMUNITY PRIMARY 12,890 8,450£                       2.02% 24,168-£                     -5.9% 1,222-£                    -0.3% 22,182£                  5.4%
CAEDRAW PRIMARY 31,191 23,932£                     2.68% 25,281£                     2.8% 23,292£                  2.5% 30,729£                  3.2%
CYFARTHFA PARK PRIMARY 50,411 39,854£                     2.95% 47,308£                     3.2% 61,465£                  4.3% 53,332£                  3.7%
DOWLAIS PRIMARY 105,793 98,586£                     10.77% 46,369£                     5.6% 64,587£                  7.4% 15,423£                  1.8%
EDWARDSVILLE PRIMARY 81,949 72,270£                     5.00% 40,034£                     2.8% 31,892£                  2.1% 12,296£                  0.8%
YSGOL GYNRADD COED Y DDERWEN 80,840 73,847£                     7.62% 41,512£                     4.3% 34,471£                  3.4% 26,843£                  2.6%
GELLIFAELOG PRIMARY 55,107 47,715£                     5.13% 41,114£                     4.4% 20,830£                  2.2% 23,762-£                  -2.5%
GOETRE PRIMARY 55,314 43,640£                     2.62% 40,596£                     2.3% 52,476£                  2.9% 75,786£                  4.1%
GWAUNFARREN PRIMARY 70,509 62,239£                     6.18% 39,814£                     4.1% 15,966£                  1.6% 58,851-£                  -6.2%
HEOLGERRIG PRIMARY 56,670 49,331£                     5.66% 39,690£                     4.7% 36,228£                  4.2% 26,381£                  3.0%
PANTYSGALLOG PRIMARY 40,421 33,348£                     3.92% 30,786£                     3.4% 30,140£                  3.4% 16,061£                  1.8%
ST ILLTYD'S R.C. PRIMARY 74,833 68,904£                     9.71% 16,724£                     2.6% 1,752£                    0.3% 26,228-£                  -3.8%
ST ALOYSIUS R.C. PRIMARY 76,094 69,792£                     10.21% 49,996£                     7.3% 20,367£                  2.9% 24,091-£                  -3.5%
ST MARY'S R.C. PRIMARY 70,921 64,194£                     8.37% 48,640£                     5.7% 49,532£                  6.0% 41,338£                  5.0%
TRELEWIS PRIMARY 54,819 47,959£                     5.82% 49,702£                     6.0% 39,807£                  4.7% 34,050£                  4.0%
TROEDYRHIW PRIMARY 31,727 24,734£                     3.00% 31,249£                     3.8% 31,728£                  3.9% 34,698£                  4.1%
TWYNYRODYN COMMUNITY 77,361 66,831£                     5.29% 34,939£                     2.6% 294£                       0.0% 16,932-£                  -1.3%
YNYSOWEN COMMUNITY 46,783 39,231£                     3.98% 35,132£                     3.5% 45,926£                  4.5% 55,145£                  5.3%
YSGOL Y GRAIG PRIMARY 102,909 96,501£                     11.37% 49,658£                     6.1% 2,743-£                    -0.3% 64,590-£                  -7.7%
YSGOL RHYD Y GRUG 19,416 11,838£                     1.23% 11,444£                     1.2% 2,793£                    0.3% 29,603-£                  -3.0%
YSGOL SANTES TUDFUL 46,027 34,406£                     2.33% 48,645£                     3.2% 26,861£                  1.7% 13,802£                  0.9%
TOTALS 1,258,809 1,087,806£               5.08% 754,511£                   3.5% 588,433£               2.7% 205,277£               0.9%

AFON TAF HIGH 123,187 102,976 3.17% 88,694£                     3.0% 84,418£                  2.8% 23,621£                  0.8%
BISHOP HEDLEY HIGH 6,509 -8,782 -0.38% 8,850£                       0.4% 62,554£                  2.6% 37,447£                  1.5%
CYFARTHFA HIGH 157,428 124,186 2.48% 85,470£                     1.7% 25,246£                  0.5% 86,461£                  1.6%
PEN-Y-DRE HIGH 119,811 102,499 3.42% 71,948£                     2.5% 101,261£               3.4% 143,536£               4.7%
TOTALS 406,936 320,880£                   2.36% 254,961£                   1.9% 273,479£               2.0% 291,065£               2.1%

GREENFIELD SPECIAL 144,054 138,258£                   4.27% 23,441£                     0.8% 1,010£                    0.0% 9,780-£                    -0.3%
TOTALS 144,054 138,258£                   4.27% 23,441£                     0.8% 1,010£                    0.0% 9,780-£                    -0.3%

GRAND TOTALS 1,846,606 1,581,040£               4.10% 1,048,068£               2.7% 862,922£               2.2% 486,561£               1.2%

2019/2020 MTFP 2020/2021 MTFP2018/2019 Approved Budgets 2017/2018 Outturn 

P
age 27



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

CABINET - INFORMATION REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

School Meals – New Menu November 2018

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 To inform elected members of the introduction of a new menu in the Primary and 
Secondary sectors and advise of an increase in the price of school meals effective 
from 5th November 2018.

2.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

2.1 The local authority offers a catering service to schools for the provision of school 
meals under the terms of a service level agreement (SLA).  The main purpose of the 
School Meals SLA is to cater for all pupils eligible for a free school meal (FSM) and 
the SLA charge covers the cost of providing school meals to FSM pupils.

2.2 The SLA also includes the provision of school meals to non-FSM pupils for a price per 
meal that is budgeted to cover the full cost of the additional meals provided. 
Therefore, the local authority is responsible for ensuring that the price charged per 
meal covers the cost of delivering the paid meal element of the service.

2.3 The School Meals Service has not increased the price of school meals since 
September 2015 as the service has been able to balance the overall service budget 
without needing to increase income through price rises.  

2.4 The local authority is now seeking to introduce a nutritionally compliant menu across 
Secondary schools in line with Welsh Government’s Healthy Eating in Schools 
(Nutritional Standards and Requirements) (Wales) Regulations 2013 and to improve 
the choice, nutritional content and value in the already compliant Primary schools 
menu.  

Date Written 5th October 2018
Report Author Anthony Lewis, 

Fairyal Khalifa
Service Area Learning 
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 24th October 2018

Page 29

Agenda Item 7



Both new menus will be launched on 5th November 2018 following the half-term 
recess and a small increase to the price of a school meal is proposed as part of this 
launch to ensure the new menu is appropriately priced and more in line with 
neighbouring authorities.

3.0 NEW SCHOOL MENU 

3.1 The new menu has been developed by the School Meals Service in collaboration with 
a variety of stakeholders including; school cooks, Headteachers, and pupils. 
Engagement has taken place with School Councils across both Primary and 
Secondary schools, products have been trialled in kitchens across different schools 
and pupils have been involved in taster sessions.

3.2 Following the introduction of a nutritionally compliant menu in the secondary sector on 
November 5th 2018, the local authority will be one of only six local authorities to have 
introduced a nutritionally compliant menu to its Secondary schools. 

3.3 The new Secondary School Menu is therefore being piloted in Bishop Hedley High 
School in conjunction with the roll out of the new cashless till system.  New cashless 
tills are being implemented across all Secondary schools in readiness for the launch of 
the new menu on 5th November 2018.  

3.4 The School Meals Service has continued dialogue with Bishop Hedley High School 
and pupils during the roll out of the pilot menu with the view to making changes where 
appropriate in readiness for the launch.

3.5 In order to ensure compliance there has been an overhaul of the majority of products 
contained within the Secondary School Menu and the range of individual product 
options available on a daily basis has been streamlined to ensure compliance and 
also to ensure costs are managed through reduced wastage.

3.6 To balance the options available, the choice of set meal options has increased to 
include a pasta pot choice and cold meal such as baguette, in addition to the two hot 
meal options.  There will also be an increase in the availability of fresh products and 
some dessert items will be prepared directly by the school cooks to service standard 
recipes.

3.7 Significant product change has also been reflected in the Primary School Menu in 
order to provide better quality, nutritional content, cost effectiveness and choice of 
products.  The set meal options have also increased to reflect a choice of wrap or 
jacket potato in addition to the current hot meal or baguette options. 

3.8 Across all schools, disposable sundries have been replaced within the new menu to 
compostable products wherever possible.  These are more environmentally friendly 
and reduce the amount of landfill wastage produced.  Additional options for such 
changes continue to be explored.

3.9 Despite there being additional costs associated with some of the new compliant 
products and more environmentally friendly packaging etc. a number of the new 
products are more cost effective than the product they have replaced and the new 
menu has been costed within the parameters of the existing menu as far as possible.

Page 30



3.10 In order to reflect appropriate pricing of the set meal within the new menu, and to 
ensure costs are covered, the School Meals Service are introducing the following 
prices from November 2018 onwards.  As in previous years the actual price set has 
been rounded to the nearest 5p.  This approach has been applied to the pricing of the 
set meals across school sectors as well as to the pricing of individual items in the 
Secondary Menu.

Table 1 – School meal prices charged in MTCBC schools November 2018 and 
September 2017

September 2017 November 2018

Primary School
Set Meal £2.00 £2.10
Secondary School
Set Meal £2.00 £2.20
Set Meal with Dessert £2.35 £2.50
Individual Items Various Various*

*Like for like product pricing of individual items varies year on year with some items 
decreasing in price e.g. bottles of water, freshly made biscuits/cakes, hot carvery rolls, 
paninis etc. and others increasing to better reflect costing and recommended pricing 
e.g. pasta with sauces, baguettes/wraps etc.  New products have been priced to 
ensure appropriate coverage of cost and consistency with the overall menu.

3.11 Table 2 illustrates school meal prices being charged by local authorities across the 
Central South Consortium. 

Table 2 – Central South Consortium - school meal prices 2017/18 and 2018/19

Bridgend** Cardiff RCT Vale of Glamorgan

 17/18 18/19 17/18 18/19 17/18 18/19 17/18 18/19
 Primary £2.20 £2.20 £2.40 £2.50 £2.40 £2.50 £2.30 £2.25
Secondary* £2.50 £2.50 £2.85 £2.95 £2.65 £2.75 £2.50 £2.45

 * = set meal with dessert
** = no price increase

The table shows that the price charged by MTCBC schools is the cheapest across the 
consortia for primary pupils by at least 10p a meal and the joint second cheapest for 
secondary pupils.

3.12 Table 3 illustrates school meal prices being charged by local authorities across the 
Education Achievement Service (EAS) 

Page 31



Table 3 – EAS Local Authorities - school meal prices 2017/18 and 2018/19

Blaenau Gwent Caerphilly Torfaen Monmouth Newport

 17/18 18/19 17/18 18/19 17/18 18/19 17/18 18/19 17/18 18/19
 Primary £2.10 £2.20 £1.90 £2.00 £2.30 

(Inf) 

£2.40 
(Jr) 

£2.30 
(Inf) 

£2.40 
(Jr) 

£2.10 £2.10 £2.05 £2.10

Secondary £2.35 £2.50 £2.15 £2.25 £2.60 £2.60 Schools manage
their own catering

service

£2.35 £2.40

This table shows that the prices charged by MTCBC are the joint second cheapest 
with local authorities across EAS for primary schools whilst there are two LAs who 
have cheaper secondary menus. 

3.13 The proposed Summer Term menu will feature seasonal changes across all schools 
from the Autumn and Spring Term menu and the new menus will be reviewed 
throughout the academic year 2018/19.  Further appropriate changes will be made for 
2019/20 academic year to ensure pupil satisfaction with the new menu and continued 
compliance with nutritional standards.

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)

4.1 There are no financial implications with this report.

5.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT

Positive 
Impacts

Negative 
Impacts

Not 
Applicable 

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 
Objectives 3 of 4 0 of 4 1 of 4

2. Sustainable Development 
Principles - How have you 
considered the five ways of 
working:

 Long term
 Prevention
 Integration
 Collaboration
 Involvement

5 of 5 0 of 5 0 of 5

3. Protected Characteristics 
(including Welsh Language) 4 of 10 0 of 10 6 of 10

4. Biodiversity 1 of 1 0 of 1 0 of 1

Page 32



Summary:

The main positive impacts against:

 The Well-being Objectives are that the new school menu will provide a healthy, 
balanced and nutritious school meal, promoting healthy eating behaviours in our 
schools and encouraging pupils to take healthy choices earlier in their life which will 
help them to achieve good health and well-being in support of their educational 
outcomes (Best Start) and also in support of their capacity to take healthy choices as 
they seek to live independently as adults (Living Well). Also, the move towards more 
environmentally friendly and compostable packaging supports the Environmental 
Wellbeing objective through improving the efficient and biodiverse use of materials and 
reducing landfill waste.

 The Sustainable Development Principles are that the new menu, which was 
developed with the involvement of key stakeholders incuding pupils, contributes 
positively towards the long-term and prevention ways of working with respect to the 
health and wellbeing of individuals, and could help to reduce some of the diet related 
health problems in society including the increasing rates of obesity, particularly in 
childhood, as well as diabetes and high blood pressure. This integrates well with the 
promoting active lifestyles agenda and a number of the Council’s wellbeing objectives 
identified above. 

 The Protected Characteristics inc. Welsh Language are that the new menus cater 
for special dietary requirements for reasons of religion/belief and due to medical 
conditions such as food allergies etc. 

 Biodiversity are that introducing biodegradable/compostable packaging will reduce 
landfill waste from school kitchens.

No negative impacts have been identified against the Well-being Objectives, the 
Sustainable Development Principles, the Protected Characteristics, Welsh Language or 
Biodiversity.

SUE WALKER
CHIEF OFFICER LEARNING

COUNCILLOR MYTTON
CABINET MEMBER FORLEARNING

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Integrated Impact 
Assessment – School 
Meals New Menu

5th October 2018

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect of 
each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 35

Agenda Item 8
By virtue of paragraph(s) 14 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Delegated Authority – Integrated Impact Assessment
	4 Air Quality Management Area Action Plan (AQAP) – Proposed Reversal of Traffic Flow in Pontmorlais High Street
	5 Cardiff Capital Region Regeneration Plan 2018-2021
	6 School Balances 2017-2019
	7 School Meals - New Menu November 2018
	8 Supply of Desktop ICT

